
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Monday, 25 
November 2019 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to 
be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Outdoor and Town Centre Events Programme (Pages 11 - 22)

6. Summer Fun 2019 (Pages 23 - 30)

7. Community Engagement Events & Activities 2019 (Pages 31 - 40)

8. Gravesend Borough Market Research & Member Working Group (Pages 41 - 50)

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 



10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any 
items included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the 
public are present during those items, there would be disclosure 
to them of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private 

None. 

Members

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Gurjit Kaur Bains
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard
Aaron Elliott
Baljit Hayre
Jordan Meade
Ejaz Aslam
Harold Craske

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 

Thursday, 26 September 2019                                        7:30pm  

Present:

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair) 
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair) 

Cllrs: Christina Rolles 
Peter Scollard 
Aaron Elliott 
Baljit Hayre 
Ejaz Aslam 
Harold Craske 
Frank Wardle  

Simon Hookway 
Simon Walsh 
Kath Donald 
Sean Steer 
Catherine Herbert 

Assistant Director (Communities) 
Service Manager (Communities) 
Strategic Manager (CSU) 
Community Safety Operations Manager (CSU)
Deputy Director, Cement Fields (Whitstable Biennale) 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

8. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Gurjit Bains and Cllr Jordan Meade. Cllr Bob 
Lane and Cllr Frank Wardle substituted respectively. 

9. Minutes 

The Assistant Director (Communities) updated Members on areas from the previous 
minutes: 

 Youth Council, page 6 – A standing invite had been offered to the Youth Council to 
attend the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committees; the Youth Council lost a 
number of older Members recently as they went off to University. They are currently 
looking for new representation and they will be advised of the standing invitation. 

 Gurdwara Visitors, page 7 – A meeting will be arranged to discuss the issue of visitor 
management at the Gurdwara, including collating visitor statistics.  

 Cross Party Market Working Group, page 8 - A report on the Market will be submitted 
to the November meeting of Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee; a discussion 
can be held and action points created for the future. 

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday, 04 June 2019 were signed by the Chair. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 26.09.2019

2

10. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made. 

11. Estuary 2020 

The Deputy Director, Cement Fields (Whitstable Biennale) gave a presentation to the 
Committee on the project ‘Estuary 2020’ outlining the key objectives of the project, the work 
they carried out in the North Kent area and its planned outcomes (please see supplementary 
for further detail). 

The Deputy Director, Cement Fields (Whitstable Biennale) stated that: 

• The festival will take place during September-October 2020, with a focus in 
Gravesham and Medway on the southern side of the Thames, extending out to other 
areas in North Kent 

• The DCMS Cultural Development Fund award has been made to Creative Estuary to 
deliver the ambitions for the Thames Estuary Production Corridor

• Cement Fields are working in partnership with Metal, an arts organisation based in 
Southend, Essex. Metal will be delivering in South Essex and Cement Fields will 
carry on delivering in North Kent 

Following the presentation, the Committee asked that it be made available to all Members 
for further circulation.  

The Chair stated that it was imperative that Gravesham’s arts community was integrated 
with the Estuary 2020 festival to help showcase Gravesham’s art scene to develop their 
work further. The Chair asked that thought be given to how the project could do that for the 
long term, identifying the benefits it could bring to Gravesham in the future. 

The Committee echoed the Chair’s comments and agreed that the Deputy Director, Cement 
Fields (Whitstable Biennale) was to be invited to attend the June 2020 meeting of the 
Committee to present and discuss the full programme of events for the Festival.  

The Chair thanked the Deputy Director, Cement Fields (Whitstable Biennale) for an 
informative presentation. 

12. Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme 2020 

Members were asked to consider and comment on the:

 Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme 2020 which will run in conjunction with the 
Local Councillor Shadowing Award 

 The proposed draft schedule attached at Appendix Two

The Service Manager (Communities) guided Members through pages 11-14 of the report 
informing them of the details of the award, the future of the scheme and its benefits to the 
Council and the young people taking part. 

Page 4



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 26.09.2019

3

Following the explanation of the details of the award and the required Councillor 
participation, the Service Manager (Communities) informed Members that it would be ideal if 
all ten Members of the Committee could take part. The Committee & Scrutiny Assistant 
additionally implored Members to be a part of the Scheme and gave a brief overview of the 
planned activities; the full schedule could be seen attached at appendix two. 

The Committee wholeheartedly agreed that the scheme was a very worthwhile programme 
that would provide many benefits to both the Councillors and the young people involved. 
Promoting youth engagement in the Borough and within local politics was very important and 
the award would allow for a bridge to be created between the youth and Gravesham 
Borough Council. 

Although Members were happy with the scheme, some concern was raised about there 
being no requirement for any DBS checks. After a robust discussion, the Committee asked 
that it be looked into if DBS checks could be requested for all Councillors as they may come 
into contact with children throughout their four year term of office. 

The Service Manager (Communities) further addressed Members concerns and advised that 
the proposed scheme was very different to the original shadowing award as the 2020 
scheme was created to ensure that all Councillor’s would be meeting the young people in 
groups within the Council Chamber. 

Responding to a Members concern over the amount of places being offered and ensuring 
inclusivity, the Service Manager (Communities) explained that the matter of being fair and 
ensuring the whole of Gravesham was included was deliberated about in length. The eight 
schools and one college that will be approached were the main educational organisations in 
the Borough and had young people from all backgrounds and ethnicity going to them. The 
‘two places per school’ approach was agreed due to group restrictions involving the 
Parliament tours and the Council Chamber size which ultimately dictated the best way 
forward. Additionally the application process will hopefully whittle down the applicants to 
those that really desire to take part in the scheme and will reap the most benefits from it as 
they have to be willing to complete the scheme in its entirety and attend the evening 
meetings. 

The Committee expressed their appreciation to the Committee & Scrutiny Assistant for all his 
work in developing the scheme and for a very informative report.  The Committee endorsed 
the Council’s participation in the Gravesham Youth Democracy Scheme run in conjunction 
with the Local Councillor Shadowing Award. 

13. Dickens 150 

The plans to commemorate the 150th anniversary of Charles Dickens’ death in 2020 were 
shared with the Committee. 

Key information was shared with Members pertaining to Charles Dickens, his death at Gads 
Hill on 09 June 1970, his history with the Borough and other areas in the Country that would 
be commemorating the 150th anniversary. Specifically, Gravesham officers are aware that 
there will be a memorial service at Westminster Abbey as he was buried there; the Assistant 
Director (Communities) wanted to raise Gravesham’s profile and make it more known that 
Charles Dickens spent his last fourteen years of his life living at Gad’s Hill Place and died 
there. 

Page 5



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 26.09.2019

4

The Assistant Director (Communities) added that Portsmouth apparently have the original 
piece of furniture that Charles Dickens died upon and the Gad’s Hill Place Trust are 
enquiring about bringing it  back to Gravesham. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) advised that officers from Gravesham, Medway, 
Swale, Thanet and Visit Kent were working together to coordinate a programme of events 
across the County. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) further briefed Members on the potential programme 
of events for ‘Dickens 150’ listed on pages 58-59 of the report: 

 Dickens’ Walks 
 Theatre Performances 
 Dickens’ Quotes Projects 
 A Dickens’ Exhibition 
 A Dickensian Cricket Match 
 Art Workshops and Projects 
 Gad’s Hill Place 

One Member praised the quote project as he felt it was a very good way of communicating 
Dickens’ work; he noted that there would be a memorial service at Westminster Abbey to 
commemorate the 150th anniversary and asked if a small number of tickets could be made 
available to ensure Gravesham had a presence there. He also asked officers whether 
Higham Parish Council had been contacted as they would inevitably be making preparations 
to commemorate the anniversary. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) assured the Committee that contacting Higham and 
Shorne Parish Council was a priority and the team wanted them to be involved in the 
commemorations. With regard to Westminster Abbey, it is understood that the ticketing will 
be run by the Dickens Fellowship UK and they will be contacted to inform them of the 
Council’s interest in attending; perhaps The Mayor and a few other official Gravesham 
representatives could attend. 

Several more suggestions were made by the Committee to promote Dickens 150, outlined 
below: 

 The schools needed to become involved as Charles Dickens was a very important 
figure in Gravesham and the Country’s history; primary and secondary schools to be 
contacted nearer the time to get them involved. Five-ten minute excerpts from his 
literature could be acted out in the Town Centre, for example 

 Competitions in schools about Dickens’ literature 
 Raise awareness of local places in the Borough associated with Charles Dickens 
 Add in any promotional advertisement to the Visit Gravesham website and the 

Gravesham visitor information point 
 A Dickens’ scarecrow competition, where schools make Dickens’ characters as 

scarecrows, could be carried out again with the inclusion of famous Dickens quotes 
around the Town on the scarecrows and on signs, etc 

The Chair thanked the officers for their informative report and asked them to incorporate the 
Committees ideas into the programme. 

Page 6



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 26.09.2019

5

14. Community Safety Service Overview 

The Committee were advised that at the previous Community and Leisure Cabinet 
Committee in June a report was presented to Committee Members that provided an 
overview of the different service areas included within the Committee’s Portfolio. Community 
Safety has since been integrated into this Portfolio and therefore, the report had been 
updated to provide an overview of the work of the Community Safety Unit (CSU).

The Strategic Manager (CSU) guided Members through pages 63-65 of the report, fully 
briefing the Committee on the work of the Community Safety Unit and explained the key 
information and the current issues the team faced in the below service areas: 

 Activity to improve public safety and protect people from harm
 Preventing and disrupting acquisitive crime
 Protecting and strengthening communities
 Meeting Partnership responsibilities
 Overseeing the delivery of the Council’s CCTV Service

The Community Safety Operations Manager highlighted a series of high profile police raids 
that were carried out yesterday morning to disrupt county line drugs gangs in the area. 
Letters were also delivered to residents that were suspected of drug dealing and further 
engaging was made in attempts to prevent more people getting involved in the county line 
drug trade. Referrals were made for people seeking help with their drug addictions. 

The Strategic Manager (CSU) and the Community Safety Operations Manager fielded 
questions from Members and explained that: 

 Officers were aware of requests for additional CCTV, and confirmed that signage 
could only be erected when there were cameras installed in a location. However 
there only needed to be sufficient signage to make people aware such as in and out 
of a road, not for every camera that had been installed  

 In the Hive, Northfleet there were already a number of cameras which were operated 
separately by the Council’s housing services department in relation to their housing 
stock 

 The Council would not endorse putting signage up without actually having cameras in 
the area; that would create a false sense of security for residents and if there was an 
incident then no CCTV would be able to be used to catch offenders 

 Some cameras that have been installed in Gravesend have been repeatedly stolen 
or vandalised shortly after being installed which is why a feasibility study is carried 
out beforehand to make sure the location is appropriate 

 Cameras were installed along the High Street and along Queen Street covering all 
major routes in and out of the Town. Even with numerous cameras, it was still difficult 
to capture clear enough pictures of drug dealing to pursue arrests as it relied on the 
operator spotting it in time and being able to zoom in to see faces/the drugs/number 
plates clearly enough to be used as evidence  

 Councillors were encouraged to tell their constituents to inform the Police of any 
information they had that could be useful such as a partial number plate or 
description of an offender. If they wanted to report anonymously they could do it by 
contacting Crime Stoppers where their personal information would not be shared 

 The community safety award given to local people was given out by the Crime 
Prevention Panel; at the next meeting the Community Safety Operations Manager 

Page 7



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 26.09.2019

6

agreed to talk to them about bringing the award back to encourage residents to 
report issues 

 The system GSAFE was used by shops and pubs around Town to warn staff of 
potentially dangerous people that shouldn’t be allowed into their establishments; for 
example a pub that had kicked out a drunken patron for violent behaviour could warn 
other pubs nearby. The system was run completely independent of the Council with 
the work being coordinated externally; the GSAFE representative sits in the CSU 

 The CSU carried out a whole range of different work to combat forms of violence 
including domestic violence including preventative work with boys and young men; 
the projects described in the report were just a few examples of the work the team 
dealt with. One of the reasons some of the work was focused solely on women and 
girls was that the funds were provided externally to support that work by the Home 
Office’s ‘Violence against Women and Girls Transformation’ fund 

 A mobile camera was previously stationed by the Skate Park as it tended to be a 
hotspot for crime; a permeant camera has now been placed in that area to cover 
Ordnance Road and the Skate Park however none could be placed in Fort Gardens 
due to it being a heritage area 

In response to Members queries, the Assistant Director (Communities) clarified that the 
Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee scrutinised the Partnership and all of Gravesham 
Partners work. Whereas, the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee reviewed the 
Councils Community Safety responsibilities; there will be a degree of overlap between the 
two Committees. The Assistant Director (Communities) advised Members that he would take 
the terms of reference to the next Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee to make it clearer 
for Members; it will be circulated to the Community & Leisure Cabinet Members too. 

The Chair expanded on the point informing Members that the Committee dealt with policy 
and the Council’s role in community safety whereas the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee dealt with the wider partnership role including the CSU, Kent Police and other 
neighbouring agencies. 

Praise was given to the Safer Place Officers and their work in the Town Centre although it 
was asked whether or not their remit could be expanded to other areas of the Borough. 

The Community Safety Operations Manager appreciated the positive feedback and 
explained that the team were in the middle of recruiting two additional Safer Place Officers 
who would be mobile and work throughout the Borough. 

Members noted the information contained within the report. 

15. Draft Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 

The report provided Members with a proposed new corporate approach to tackling anti-
social behaviour (ASB) contained within a draft ASB Strategy 2019-23. The Strategy had 
been developed to ensure that the Authority was as effective as possible in addressing the 
challenges presented by ASB which placed considerable demands on many of the different 
service department’s resources. It provided a framework for dealing with ASB from 
preventative work through to enforcement in local neighbourhoods and the town centre as a 
means of achieving longer-term and sustainable improvements in quality of life.

Page 8



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 26.09.2019

7

The Strategic Manager (CSU) went through the Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy attached at 
appendix two outlining all of the key information to the Committee and stated the core of the 
Strategy was the suggested new approach: 

 Prevention and community involvement;
 Early identification;
 Supportive intervention;
 Enforcement; and,
 Communication and reassurance (cutting across each of the above) 

The Committee thanked the Strategic Manager (CSU) for her detailed run through of the 
strategy and offered their comments: 

 Children needed to know their responsibility in society; messages to schools should 
be included in the strategy to say that bullying and anti-social behaviour is not 
acceptable anywhere, at any age 

 It was imperative to start preventative action while children were at school to 
empower them to be the voice of the future 

 Members wanted all ward Councillors involved and cross party support in the wards 
that were most affected by anti-social behaviour; it was suggested faith leaders 
could be utilised to get the message across the Borough more effectively 

 All of the information needed to be measurable with proper indicators and targets so 
that the information could be compared to see what worked the best 

The rural Members reminded the Committee that many problems affected their areas and 
anti-social behaviour was not restricted to only the Town Centre. The Chair agreed with the 
statement and assured the Committee that the strategy was a Borough wide approach. 

The Chair asked that thanks be minuted to the Strategic Manager (CSU) and the team for 
their hard work in finishing the strategy and getting it submitted to the Committee earlier than 
intended. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9:19pm. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 25 November 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Outdoor and Town Centre Events Programme

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide an overview of the council's major outdoor and Town Centre events programme 
during 2019.

Recommendations:
1. That the Committee notes the range of larger scale events organised by the council 

and in partnership with others and makes known its priorities for consideration in 
future events programming.

1. Introduction

1.1 The council organises a large number and variety of events directly or, in some 
instances, in partnership with local groups and organisations. The majority of 
these are managed or facilitated by staff within the Communities Directorate.

1.2 The council’s events programme is aligned with the strategic objectives of the 
Corporate Plan relating to Objective #2 Place – A vibrant economy and connected 
community. 

1.3 This report summarises the main events that have taken place since April 2019, 
giving an indication of the scale of commitment that the council makes to this 
programme.

2. Outdoor Events Programme 2019

St Georges Day School Parade, Tuesday 23 April  

2.1 The annual Schools St George’s Day parade is a partnership event organised 
through the Kent Equality Cohesion Council, part funded by Gravesham Borough 
Council and Arts Council England. The event has run for a number of years and 
participant numbers remain high each year with around 900 school children taking 
part.  Each school gets to work with the arts organisation, Samesky, to create the 
parade mascots. This year the parade gathered on Community Square and 
wound its way down Windmill Street, High Street, Jury Street, New Road, 
Thamesgate returning to Community Square. The parade is well received by the 

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



2

Town Centre shoppers, businesses and parents/guardians, many of whom come 
out to cheer the children on.

Scouts St George’s Day Parade, Sunday 28 April 

2.2 Organised in Partnership with the Scouts, this event was supported by around 200 
young people from the local Scouts, Guides, Brownies, Rangers, Rainbows, Cubs 
and Beavers. The group paraded from the Old Town Hall to Community Square 
for a short Service and Promise renewal.

Fusion Festival, Saturday 15 June

2.3 The annual Fusion Festival organised by Cohesion Plus was held in the Town 
Centre and at Gravesend Borough Market.  An array of music, dance and visual 
art was provided throughout the day in various locations.  Acts included No Limits 
Street Band, Chinese Lion Dancers, Living Statues and this year’s highlight, the 
launch of the Dancing Maharajah’s with animatronic elephant parading through 
the streets.

Gravesham Riverside Festival, Saturday 6 July

2.4 This year’s event saw a return of the good weather experienced last year, with 
large crowds enjoying the wide variety of activities on offer. This year there were 
four main zones – the Main Stage, Active Zone on Gordon Promenade, Vintage 
Fayre in Fort Gardens and the Funfair at Ordnance Road.

2.5 Headlining the Main Stage were 00s pop band superstars Liberty X, along with a 
mix of local bands and top tribute acts throughout the afternoon. The Vintage 
Fayre included music since the 1940’s, vintage traders, cars, barbers and retro 
sweets. Children’s entertainment included Punch and Judy, Fizzpop Science, Sky 
Birds of Prey, Drogo the interactive dragon, donkey rides and vintage fairground 
rides. The active area included a climbing wall, assault course, virtual reality 
sports game, wipe-out sweeper and rugby tackle to coincide with the rugby World 
Cup in which two rugby clubs advertised their sessions to increase participation.  

Gravesham Riverside Fringe Festival, Sunday 7 July – Saturday 13 July

2.6 This Riverside Fringe Festival, which received £15,000 in funding support from 
Arts Council England, was packed full of some really exciting and varied activities 
and events. Building on the success of last year’s one day extravaganza, this 
year’s Festival raised the bar by several notches and ran for a whole week from 
Sunday 7 July to Saturday 13 July. Local artists performed throughout the week at 
a cornucopia of exciting events, from award winning drama to Bhangra dance; 
comedy to a drop-in poetry shop at Gravesend Borough Market. The venues for 
the festival were equally diverse including, LV21, The Woodville, Café No.84, 
Northfleet Central, The Gr@nd and St Andrew’s Arts Centre to name but a few. 
The Riverside Fringe Festival was organised by Gravesham Arts Salon (GAS), 
which is a group of artists and creatives living and or working in Gravesham. The 
group was formed in 2016 and is now a constituted organisation initiating and 
delivering projects under the GAS banner.  Independently, many of the group are 
developing programmes for families and wider audiences, but GAS has given the 
opportunity for lots of local organisations and individuals to come together to 
support each other and promote the arts. 

Page 12



3

Summer Events at the Promenade

2.7 A number of organisations organise events on council land with a varying degrees 
of assistance from the council:

2.7.1 Gravesend Regatta took place on Saturday 15 and Sunday 16 June on the 
River, with organised skiff rowing races on the Thames and on-shore 
events along the Promenade, including a fun-fair, organised by the 
Gravesend Regatta Committee. 

2.7.2 The Hope & Glory event in Fort Gardens was organised by Wartime 
Relived and took place on Saturday 28 September 2019.  Unfortunately, 
the events planned following the Drumhead Service on Sunday 29 
September had to be cancelled due to the deteriorating weather 
conditions.  Attractions included a mixture of stalls, related musical acts, 
memorabilia and re-enactments. 

Outdoor Theatre, Sunday 28 July and Tuesday 13 August

2.8 The council has worked with the Changeling Theatre Company to present outdoor 
theatre within the borough since 2007.  Two performances were held at Nurstead 
Court, Meopham - Jessica Swale’s Nell Gwynn and Shakespeare’s The Winter’s 
Tale. These are ticketed events and are designed to cover production costs year 
on year.  The first show attracted a large crowd of just under 200 people and the 
second attracting around 150. These outdoor shows are very popular, especially if 
the weather is good. 

Fireworks Festival, Friday 1 November

2.9 This year’s fireworks event at the Promenade returned following last year’s 
cancelation due to Gravesham’s temporary resident, Benny the Beluga Whale. As 
in previous years the fireworks were co-ordinated to a musical theme and were 
launched from a barge on the River. Smith’s Funfairs provided a funfair based 
primarily on the Ordnance Road site, which also included a Halloween night 
special on Thursday 31 October. Indications are that in excess of 10,000 people 
attended the event.

2.10 Funding from Swale Heating made this year’s fireworks event possible and it is 
this type of social funding that has the potential to help fund the events 
programme in the future. 

Remembrance Services, Sunday 10 November & Monday 11 November

2.11 The council, including the officers of the Leisure Team and Communities 
Directorate, provide support to a number of memorial services held during this 
time, primarily at Windmill Hill and Northfleet. These events are managed in 
conjunction with a range of organisations, including the main event partners, the 
Royal British Legion. Around 900 people attended the annual service at Windmill 
Hill Memorial Gardens; 300 people at the memorial at The Hill, Northfleet; and 400 
people at Community Square on the Monday.  The lead of representatives of the 
services and other organisations is critical to these services taking place.

2.12 As part of Remembrance, the team has for a number of years co-ordinated a 
crocheted and knitted poppy installation, this year the installation takes the form of 
Poppy Chandeliers in Gravesend Borough Market together with a ‘garden of 
reflection’ display and the poppy carpet on Community Square.

Page 13



4

Other future events

2.13 The annual General Gordon Memorial Service is to be held in Gordon Gardens by 
the Gordon Statue at 11am on Friday 24 January 2020.

3. Town Centre Events

Shrove Tuesday – 5 March

3.1 A pancake flipping challenge was held throughout the Town Centre with shop staff 
invited to see how many times they could flip a pancake within a minute.  The 
winner was presented with a trophy.  There were 31 entrants in total.

Dino Day, Saturday 10th August

3.2 The aim of this event was to increase footfall in the Town Centre and Gravesend 
Borough Market during the Summer school holidays. The event consisted of 4 
shows with animatronic dinosaurs and actors, providing a dinosaur educational 
element to young people.  The shows held in New Road attracted approximately 
1800 people.  Gravesend Borough Market hosted sessions with creepy crawlies, 
educating young people about various species, together with arts, crafts and face 
painting, attracting footfall of 1555 people. 

Super Gravesham - Saturday 17th August

3.3 This event also aimed to increase footfall in the Town Centre and Gravesend 
Borough Market with a Superhero theme.  The event comprised a Bat Mobile and 
a Batman actor which proved very popular throughout the day. 50 families 
completed the superhero trail around town which led to participants visiting a 
variety of independent businesses in the Town Centre.  Businesses also 
organised activities for families, including free gaming, arts & crafts activity.  
Approximately 3000 people participated in the event. 

3.4 The Superhero theme was complemented by a ‘Princess Sing-a-long’ in 
Gravesend Borough Market, working with Bustle and Breeches.  This proved 
extremely popular generating footfall of 2469 people.

South East England’s Strongest Man - Sunday 1 September

3.5 Held in conjunction with ‘Strongman Galaxy’ ‘Roar Lifting’ and Rebel Strength, 
Town Centre Management hosted the fifth running of this contest to find South 
East England’s Strongest Man 2019 – across both Novices and Overs.  In excess 
of 2000 spectators gathered on New Road throughout the event which increased 
dwell time and additional spend to cafes, bars, and shops. 

Gravesend Halloween - Thursday 24th and Friday 25th October

3.6 Halloween was marked in the Gravesham Borough Market and High Street with 
the aim of increasing footfall and promoting local businesses in the High Street 
and Market.

3.7 On a rainy Thursday 24th October we had Harry Potter themed Shows, Spooky 
Stories, Slime Making and Owls which attracted a footfall of 1196 people. On 
Friday 25th October we supported the Demelza Children’s Hospice Pumpkin Hunt 
in which 130 families took part working with independent businesses and 
Gravesham Borough Market with Living statues, face painting, magic mirror, 

Page 14



5

pottery class, slime making and arts and crafts. This attracted a footfall of 1397 
people, with a Total footfall for the Halloween events of 2593 people and 166 likes 
on Facebook.

Christmas Programme

3.8 Preparations are in place for a programme of Christmas activities in the Town 
Centre and Gravesend Borough Market as follows:

3.8.1 Friday 22 November – Christmas Lights Switch-on

3.8.2 Saturday 23 November – Young Traders Christmas Market

3.8.3 Sunday 24 November – Vintage Christmas Market

3.8.4 Wednesday 27 Nov, 4, 11 & 18 December – Pop-up Cinema at Gravesend 
Borough Market

3.8.5 Saturday 30 November, 7 December, 14 December – Christmas Markets

3.8.6 Saturday 7 December - Small Business Saturday

3.8.7 Saturday 14 December - Live Nativity

3.8.8 Saturday 22 & Sunday 23 December – Christmas Music in Town Centre

4. Community Expectations

4.1 The council has a duty to demonstrate active promotion of the equalities agenda 
and the council’s events are a core element in that work.  Council staff have 
undertaken equality impact assessment training for events with the aim of 
assessing against this duty, particularly in relation to whether events are 
accessible to all. 

4.2 Consultation on the Corporate Plan elicited views on the contribution that events 
make to strengthening the local community, as follows:

 Gravesham council have always made an effort to put on great community 
events. Christmas, fireworks, the summer party on the prom etc. 

 I do believe that bringing communities together is a good way of helping 
people to feel satisfied with their town and council. Such as he Riverside 
Festival, the carnival etc.

 I think the more the council get people together the better as people can 
feel very isolated.

 Creating a better sense of love for Gravesend - there is far too much 
negativity among residents. Get people to take more pride in their town.

 I've always found that Gravesham Council are better than other councils at 
providing events and celebrations throughout the year than other councils.

 Keep up the wonderful job you have been doing with community events in 
the square, especially the Christmas programme - it is worth every penny.

Page 15



6

 Events like Fort in the Forties are a prime example of how we can draw 
people from other towns to us. 

 The events that the council put in throughout the year are fantastic with the 
prom and the gardens being great places to hold fetes and fairs etc. 

 Gravesham council have really stepped up the community spirit especially 
events in the market and the square, I have found the events welcoming 
for all ages.

 The council used to use the promenade for local charities to have stalls at 
various events through out the year. I would like this re-instated. 

 Gravesham seems very proactive with community events such as events 
at prom, Christmas events and the light parade / St. George's parade - 
much better than other councils.

 More river use for social events.

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 16



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Event Management Plans are put in place for all major events, including risk 
assessments, licencing involvement and Police/Safety Advisory Group 
support/guidance where required.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The events programme is funded from the council's leisure events budget. A 
number of events receive partnership funding via the Kent Equality Cohesion 
Council through Arts Council England grant funding. Income is also received 
through concession food stalls, funfairs and circuses. 
This Riverside Fringe Festival £15,000 in funding support from Arts Council 
England.
Social value funding from Swale Heating covered the costs of the fireworks display.
The main cost centre is G205 – Major Outdoor Events.

Risk Assessment All major events have Event Management Plans and these are submitted to the 
Safety Advisory Group for comment.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
     

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
     

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Objective #2 Place – A vibrant economy and connected community.

Crime and Disorder Event Management Plans in place for all major events, including risk assessments, 
licencing involvement and Police/Safety Advisory Group support/guidance where 
required.

Page 17

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


8

Digital and website 
implications

Use of social media and website are key to the promotion of all council events for 
pre-promotion and live updates.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

All major events are risk assessed, all 1-2-1 interacting events require staff to be 
DBS checked, photo consent forms are carried out where necessary, all large scale 
events will have a lost children point and nominated member of staff.

Page 18



Outdoor & Town Centre Events Appendix 2

St Georges Day Parade 23/04/19

                                                                                                      Riverside Festival 06/07/19

Riverside Festival Vintage Fayre 06/07/19

                                                                                                     

                                                                                                     Super Gravesham 17/08/19

                                                                                           Remembrance Sunday 10/11/19

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Outdoor & Town Centre Events

         

Fusion Festival 19                                     Fusion Festival 19

Page 21



     

Riverside Festival 2019 

    

St Georges Day 2019

     

Halloween at The Market 19

Page 22



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 25 November 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Summer Fun 2019

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report the outcome of the Summer Fun programme 2019.

Recommendations:
1. That the Committee notes the levels of participation in this year’s Summer Fun 

programme and makes its views known in respect of future programming.

1. Overview

1.1 The Gravesham Summer Fun Guide supports the objectives of the original Active 
Gravesham Strategy as well as the 2017-2021 Strategic Framework for Sport and 
Physical Activity in Kent and Medway which is; ‘more people, more active, more 
often’.

1.2 The council, as a contributing partner of the Kent and Medway Sports Board, work 
to deliver the key themes and priorities set out in the Framework, which also 
relates to the Gravesham Health Profile results and Gravesham Active Lives 
Survey. The Summer Fun Guide’s particular focus is on ‘supporting the inactive to 
become active’ and ‘providing appropriate opportunities for children and young 
people’.

1.3 The 2019 Summer Fun programme ran over the school summer holidays for both 
young people and families.  A total of 15,000, 24 page Summer Fun Guides were 
printed and distributed to every primary and secondary school across the 
borough. They were also available from children’s centres, libraries, doctor’s 
surgeries, leisure centres and community hub points. Promotional posts for some 
activities went out on social media and an online copy of the Guide was available 
on the council’s website.

1.4 The Guide was split between activities solely organised by the Leisure Team and 
those by partner organisations.  The programme included a mix of free and paid 
for activities.  A list of the events and attendance figures is included in Table 1 
and, where available, this gives a split between children and adult participants.

Page 23 Agenda Item 6



2

2. Activities

2.1 First delivered to tie in with the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games, this is the 
seventh year of delivering the Park Life scheme.  Park Life events aim to 
encourage families to use their local parks and activities and cater for children 
aged approximately between 3 and 12.  Four sessions were held at Gordon 
Promenade, Cascades Leisure Centre, Higham Recreation Ground and Camer 
Park, between 11am and 3pm.  Activities included a bouncy castle, climbing wall, 
football coaching, laser tag, football darts, LED games and a miniature railway 
(Camer only), with additional entertainment provided by Micky the Magician.

2.2 As with previous years, attendance numbers at Camer Park were the highest and 
the events again were held out in the main park area to open up the green next to 
the car park for extra parking. There were favourable weather conditions at all 
sites apart from Gordon Promenade which still gained good numbers in spite of 
heavy showers and strong winds. 

2.3 Numbers at Higham Recreation Ground were the highest yet seen at that site. 

2.4 Other activities delivered by, or in partnership with the council included the very 
popular fishing workshops, pond dipping, nature trail, bug hunting and street 
dance workshops together with traditional sporting activities such as basketball 
and cricket.

2.5 The council match funds the Big Local Summer of Activity which takes place 
around Northfleet and this offers free sports sessions for ages 5 to 15.

2.6 Further activities were delivered by external organisations and included 
gymnastics, wheelchair rugby, tennis and swimming.

2.7 An additional programme of fitness workshops were delivered in the summer 
holidays in Fort Gardens - ‘Fitness in the Fort’ - to encourage positive use of the 
park and discourage anti-social behaviour within the area.  129 people took part in 
18 sessions in total of boot-camp fitness, yoga and tai-chi. While the Tai-Chi has 
been tried in previous years and proved popular again, the attendance for the 
boot-camp was low and maybe if this is to be delivered in future years an 
alternative sporting activity could be found.

3. Results/Conclusions of Summer Fun programme

3.1 The summer programme was again successful and well received by those that 
took part.  Numbers at the Park Life Events remain positive and regular Guide 
inclusions such as the Meapa Summer Camps and Gravesham Community 
Leisure Limited (GCLL) holiday clubs, have continued to perform well.  As a result, 
an estimated 6197 people participated in physical activity over the summer period. 

3.2 The main outcomes of organising a centralised programme of activities include;

3.2.1 raising awareness with communities in the borough of the benefits of a 
more active lifestyle,

3.2.2 improving access to a wide range of “activities” for all sections of the 
community and in some instances they are free of charge,

Page 24



3

3.2.3 providing an ideal way for local organisations to market themselves and to 
gain members for their particular club/sessions throughout the rest of the 
year and

3.2.4 promoting local parks and open spaces for families to use and access

3.3 The Summer Fun Guide continues to be a cost effective way to advertise the 
range of events that are available for families to attend during the summer months 
and although digital media and website copies are now available, the vast majority 
of the public still prefer a traditional hard copy. The distribution of guides to local 
schools prior to the holiday period has become a good way to make sure that 
families/parents receive them, which is also supplemented by being available at 
other major community hub sites.   

Table 1 – Participation in Activities Promoted through the Summer Fun Programme 

Notes
@ Activities organised or supported financially by GBC. 
~ Attendance figures not included in the physical activity count for the quarterly performance report.
# Total attendance figures include all numbers generated from the Summer Fun Publication, excluding 

KCC Country Parks and Geocaching.  These figures weren’t provided in time for report publication. 

Activity Child
Attendance

Adult
Attendance

Total
Attendance

Park Life – Promenade@ 350                
Park Life – Cascades@ 500                
Park Life – Camer Park@ 700                
Park Life – Higham@ 400                
Pond Dipping@ 24 11 35                  
Bug Hunting@ 18 10 28                  
Fishing@ 52 23 75                  
Wheelchair Rugby 6 (new sign ups 

only)
Meapa 1099
Gravesham Tennis 65 65
Match Point Tennis 135 135
Team Kaizen Dance Workshops@ 38 38                  
Parkrun 240 240
Meopham Holiday Club 473 473
Nature Trail@ 34 21 55                 
KCC Fun day 465
Riverside Fun Day 223             
Big Local@ 133                
GCLL Holiday Club 1012 1012

(41 with additional 
needs)

GCLL Crash Course Swimming 64 64
GCLL Disney Swim Sessions 22 13 35
Cricket@ 24 24                  
Basketball@ 42 42                  
Kent Libraries Reading Challenge~ 1269 (signed up) 

685 (completed) 
Kent Libraries Community Events~ 1700                

Total attendances# 9166                

Page 25



4

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 26



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Event Management Plans are put in place for Summer Fun events and 
Police/Safety Advisory Group support/guidance where required.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The Summer Fun Programme is funded from the council's G202 Sports 
Development budget.

Risk Assessment Risk assessments are in place for all Summer Fun events.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
     

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
     

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Objective #2 Place – A vibrant economy and connected community.

Crime and Disorder Event Management Plans in place for all major events, including risk assessments, 
licencing involvement and Police/Safety Advisory Group support/guidance where 
required.

Digital and website 
implications

Use of social media and website are key to the promotion of all council events for 
pre-promotion and live updates.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

All major events are risk assessed, all 1-2-1 interacting events require staff to be 
DBS checked, photo consent forms are carried out where necessary, all large scale 
events will have a lost children point and nominated member of staff.

Page 27

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Summer Fun 2019 Appendix 2

                                                                                            Higham – Cascades 13/08/19

                                                                                           Camer – Park Life Event 27/08/19
Camer – Park Life Event 27/08/19

                                                                                         Higham – Park Life Event 06/08/19                                                                              

Fishing – Shorne Woods Country Park 15/08/19                             

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 25 November 2019

Reporting officer: Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services)

Subject: Community Engagement Events & Activities 2019

Purpose and summary of report: 
To give an overview of community engagement events & activities in 2019

Recommendations:
1. That the Committee notes the range of events and activity undertaken to engage and 

develop a more cohesive community and makes known its priorities for consideration 
in future planning.

1. Introduction

1.1 Each year a number of community events and activities are delivered by the 
council’s Community Involvement team.  These aim to promote cohesion, 
equality, inclusiveness, celebration and improvement of our environment.

1.2 The council’s community engagement events activity is aligned with the strategic 
objectives of the Corporate Plan relating to Objective #2 Place – A vibrant 
economy and connected community, and specifically commitments to improve 
resident well-being, develop a cohesive and resilient community, enhance the 
borough’s cultural offer and promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage.

1.3 The council has a duty to demonstrate an active promotion of the equalities 
agenda and the council’s community involvement activity is a core element in that 
work.

2. 2019 Events & Activities 

Holocaust Memorial Day, Monday 27 January 2019

2.1 The Council recognised Holocaust Memorial Day with a series of promotions. 
2019 also marked the 25th anniversary of the Rwandan Genocide and a 
screening of the film Hotel Rwanda was arranged to mark this occasion.

Page 31 Agenda Item 7



2

Chinese New Year, Tuesday 12 February

2.2 The event commenced with a lion dance and parade on Community Square 
before moving into The Woodville for speeches and a programme of traditional 
entertainment.  The event was jointly organised by the Council and the Ying Tao 
Chinese Association.  Both Dartford Boys Grammar School and Bronte School 
provided performances to a packed Woodville.  Twin Dynasty restaurant 
sponsored the buffet reception for the guests.  

Commonwealth Day, Monday 11 March

2.3 Schools and dignitaries assembled on Community Square to raise the 
Commonwealth Flag with entertainment from Bronte School Choir.  

Great British Spring Clean, 22 March to 23 April

2.4 31 litter picks took place across Gravesham as part of the national campaign - an 
increase of 17 from the previous year.  177 volunteers including businesses and 
children participated.

Community Litter Picking 

2.5 So far in 2019 50 litter picks have been delivered.  There are now over 40 
volunteers who regularly clean their local area.  

Black History Month, October 2019

2.6 The council has supported and delivered a broad programme of events during 
Black History Month.  An exhibition was created by the African-Caribbean Forum 
held in the Blake Gallery celebrating the achievements of people from the black 
community.  An African and Caribbean extravaganza was held in Gravesend 
Borough Market with food, dancing, music, head scarf tying, crafts and stalls.  
Genealogist Adrian Stone provided a presentation on tracing his Caribbean roots.  
City Praise and Emmanuel Baptist held events; The Woodville organised hip hop 
artist Breis to work with 3 local primary schools and Cohesion Plus and North Kent 
Caribbean Network delivered an evening of entertainment, music and food in the 
Council Chamber on Friday 25 October.

Eid on Community Square, Saturday 29 June  

2.7 Working with North West Kent Muslim Association, Kent Equality Cohesion 
Council and Westcourt Muslim Cultural and Educational Centre, a celebration was 
held on Community Square with speeches, entertainment, information stalls and 
food.  The event included the raising of a flag with faith leaders from across the 
local area present.  800 meals were prepared by the community and distributed at 
the event.  

Armed Forces Day, Monday 24 June

2.8 The Mayor, the Deputy Lord Lieutenant and elected members joined cadets, 
veterans and ex-service organisations on Community Square to raise the flag to 
show support for the men and women who make up the Armed Forces 
community.  

Page 32



3

Thurrock100 Walk Gravesham, Friday 19 July

2.9 Working with Kinetika and partners from Thurrock, Southend and Swale, the 
council worked with the Thames and Medway Canal Trust to organise a 
community walk from Higham Train Station to Gravesend Borough Market for a 
packed food market with entertainment.  

Outdoor Cinema Screenings on Community Square

2.10 A series of summer cinema screenings were held on Community Square as 
follows:  5 July - Mamma Mia - 350 participants; 23 August - Bohemian Rhapsody 
– 400 participants; 6 September - Greatest Showman – 450 participants.

2.11 Feedback questionnaires were undertaken at the outdoor cinema, receiving a very 
positive range of responses.  Similar approaches can be undertaken in respect of 
wider events activity.

Boundary Walk – Saturday 2 & Sunday 3 October

2.12 40 walkers joined the Mayor of Gravesham to carry out the ancient tradition of 
“Beating the Bounds” of the borough over 2 days and raising money for the 
Mayor’s Charity. 

Diwali Saturday - 2 November

2.13 The council provided support to a Diwali event, including lantern making on Light 
Vessel LV21, a service at St Andrew’s Arts Centre with music, dancing and 
storytelling followed by a public parade to the Mandir in Manor Road.  

Inter-Faith Week – 10 to 17 November

2.14 Working in partnership with the North Kent Council for Inter Faith Relations, a 
Faith Walk was held on Saturday 16 November visiting 3 places of worship within 
Gravesend.  Gravesend Mosque and the Mandir will be open for the public to visit 
during the week.

Table 2 – Community Involvement Events

Activity Child 
Attendance

Adult 
Attendance

Business 
Support

Total 
Attendance

Chinese New Year 250 350 2 602
Commonwealth Day Flag 
Raising

30 30 60

Great British Spring Clean 145
Community Litter Picking 30 254 3 287
Eid on Community Square 
(estimate)

300 500 800

Armed Forces Day 80
Thurrock 100 Food Walk 18 18
Outdoor cinemas 1200
Boundary Walk 40 40
Black History Month – 
Exhibition launch event

10 20 30

Knitted Poppies

Page 33



4

3. Gravesend Market Events

3.1 An extensive programme of events has been delivered at Gravesend Market to 
drive footfall and support trading in the Market throughout the past 12 months.  A 
breakdown of each event including average footfall can be found in Table 3.  

3.2 Gravesend Market is part of the Interreg European Funding project GO Trade. 
The project aims to increase sustainability of markets and increase overall footfall 
to the markets and towns overall. Many of the events listed below have been 
delivered through use of the GO Trade funding. 

Table 3 - Gravesend Market Events October 2018 to October 2019

Date Event Average Overall 
Footfall

21 Oct 2018 Youth Market 943
24 Oct 2018 Gravesend Halloween 1196
25 Oct 2018 Gravesend Halloween 1397
16–18 Nov 2018 Light Switch on, Sat & Sun market 6330
23-25 Nov 2018 Fri Evening, Sat & Sun Market 7514
8 Dec 2018 Christmas Market 2556
15 Dec 2018 Christmas Market 2090
16 Jan 2019 Business Breakfast 100
24 Jan 2019 Vegan Day 848
25 Jan 2019 Twilight Market Health & Wellbeing 1337
22 Feb 2019 Pet Event 1691
3 Mar 2019 Handmade Fair 1364
29 Mar 2019 Twilight Market – House and Home 1701
10 Apr 2019 Half Term activities 50
18 Apr 2019 Pet event 1998
28 Apr 2019 Vinyl Record Fair 1343
30 May 2019 Pet Event 1784
31 May 2019 Fashion Show 120
15 Jun 2019 Fusion Event (Town Centre and Market) 1626
21 Jun 2019 Twilight Market – Wellbeing & Pamper 1399
7 Jul 2019 Gaming Market 1068
14 Jul 2019 Gaming Market 845
19 Jul 2019 Food & Music Twilight with entertainment 1933
21 Jul 2019 Gaming Market 919
28 Jul 2019 Vinyl Record Fair 1376

Black History Month – Market 
Celebration (footfall from 11 to 
5)

2000

Black History Month School’s 
Workshops

120 120

Diwali (anticipated workshop 
and St Andrews))

150

Inter – Faith Week (events on 
15 and 17 Nov) anticipated 
numbers

10 40 50

Estimated Totals 750 1254 5 4382

Page 34



5

10 Aug 2019 Dino Day 1555
17 Aug 2019 Superhero Day 2569
12 Sep 2019 Business Breakfast 100
19 Sep 2019 Evening Book Signing 30
22 Sep 2019 Handmade Fair 1080
5 Oct 2019 Altogether Stronger African & Caribbean 

themed 
2340

4. Community Expectations

4.1 Consultation on the Corporate Plan elicited views on the contribution that 
community involvement events make to strengthening community cohesion, as 
follows:

 I think the more the council get people together the better as people can 
feel very isolated.

 Gravesham council have really stepped up the community spirit especially 
events in the market and the square, I have found the events welcoming 
for all ages.

 The council is better than other nearby towns such as Dartford at 
developing the community and building a sense of civic pride.  It can 
certainly do more, the effort and expenditure is worth it.

 Other Community events held throughout the year encourage visitors to 
the town, bringing in revenue, combat   loneliness and isolation, increasing 
wellbeing thus reducing visits to health services.

 We need to develop an understanding between the youth of today and 
have better events for them to keep them off the streets.

 I would like to see community groups involvement in projects and 
celebrations especially of minority groups which are not taken into 
consideration.

 I would like to see a celebration of Gravesham’s many cultures and 
minorities, such as the Polish and Balkan minorities for example.

 The well-being and social cohesion of the town population is critical in 
ensuring the long term success and prosperity of the town. Although some 
may feel that these activities waste money, they save money on the long 
run by reduction of crime and health problems.

 One of the things that is so positive about the borough is the fantastic work 
that takes place to promote community cohesion through regular 
community events organised in partnership.  

 We all need to work together to make this place a better, friendly and safe 
one.

Page 35



6

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 36



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Management Plans are put in place for all events activity and where appropriate 
reported to the Police/Safety Advisory Group for support and guidance.
There is no legal requirement to deliver community events, but the overall benefits 
of cohesion, engagement, involvement and improvement of the area make these a 
valuable contributor to the area.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Community engagement has a specific budget G094/34504 £11800 which is used 
to deliver these events.
 
Market events can be reclaimed through the European Go Trade Interreg funding.

Risk Assessment Risk assessments are undertaken for all event activity.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A This report is for information only

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No. EQIAs for events are completed before each event as part of the event 
management plan

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Objective #2 Place – A vibrant economy and connected community

Crime and Disorder No Implications.

Page 37

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


8

Digital and website 
implications

Use of social media and website are key to the promotion of all council events for 
pre-promotion and live updates.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

All major events are risk assessed, all 1-2-1 interacting events require staff to be 
DBS checked, photo consent forms are carried out where necessary, all large scale 
events will have a lost children point and nominated member of staff.

Page 38



Appendix 2

Community Involvement Events

Chinese New Year 2019 Eid on Community Square 2019

 

Diwali 2019                             Outdoor Cinema 2019

Black History Month schools workshops Knitted Poppies 2019

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



1. Background

1.1 The research exercise was designed to gather the views of traders, customers 
and visitors of Gravesend Borough Market in order to assist with setting the 
future direction of the market and identifying priorities going forward to build a 
sustainable, successful market.

The research objectives were to:

1. Identify consumer attitudes and behaviours towards markets and in particular 
Gravesend Borough Market.

2. Gain an understanding as to what consumers wanted from Gravesend 
Borough Market and how it could meet the needs of varying demographics.

3. Recognise the impact and appeal of pop-up markets and events.

4. Explore thoughts and behaviours surrounding the food court.

5. Understand effective and engaging methods of promoting and advertising the 
market and its offerings. 

6. Develop an insight into trader experiences, including what unique 
opportunities the market offered businesses.

 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 25 November 2019

Reporting officer: Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services)

Subject: Gravesend Borough Market Research Exercise

Purpose and summary of report: 
To set out headline findings from the research exercise
To set out terms of reference for a proposed Member Working Group 

Recommendation:
The headline findings are for information only, but Members are asked to consider the terms 
of reference and consider representation at a Member Working Group.

Page 41 Agenda Item 8



2

1.2 Consumer and trader research was carried out during June and July 2019 
comprising of both quantitative and qualitative methods.  

 Online survey: Quantitative data was collected and analysed from 414 
survey respondents, covering the ages of 18-65+ years.  Paper copies were 
also made available.

 Consumer focus groups: Qualitative data was captured through focus 
groups with a representative from survey age brackets present and two 
separate discussions tailored specifically to 11-18 year olds.  

 Trader interviews: Individual face to face dialogues took place with five 
market traders.  

 Individual responses: Survey respondents, who registered an interest to 
take part in focus groups yet could not attend, were invited to send their 
general thoughts and opinions via email.  

2. Summary of Findings

2.1 The headline findings are set out below:

Gravesend Borough Market offering:
 A unique, affordable, low risk opportunity for small and start-up 

businesses
 Variety is key
 Eliminate inconsistency and uncertainly to create a strong identity

Attitudes towards markets:
 The appeal to shop at markets still exists 
 Food and drink play a key role in driving traffic to markets across all 

demographics
 Hard to reach young people will visit for good, affordable street food

Most popular product categories:
 Food and drink
 Fresh produce
 Locally produced products
 A strong desire for ‘traditional markets’ during week and weekend

Most preferred days to visit markets:
 Saturday
 Sunday
 Friday
 Tuesday, Thursday, Wednesday

Reasons for visiting: 
 Supporting local businesses
 Location
 Events

Page 42



3

Impact of events and pop-ups:
 A positive effect on footfall
 Brings new visitors to the market and raises its profile
 Importance of continuation and events budget

Promoting and advertising the market:
 A strong need to increase awareness of the market, its location and events
 Heavy investment in traditional advertising recommended, with specific 

attention to local outdoor media, signage and wayfinding. 
 Social media should not be solely relied upon 

The future:
 The market has potential and the community wants it to succeed
 A need for clear strategic direction
 Wants and needs must be acted upon
 Pre-development consultation targets should be reset during transition 

period

2.2. The research looked at 6 specific areas and drew out what is working well and 
potential areas for consideration. These are as follows:

2.2.1 Identifying consumer attitudes and behaviours towards markets and in 
particular Gravesend Borough Market

What is working well:

 The appeal to shop at markets still exists if the offering is right
 Food and drink proves popular and in particular the introduction of the 

Caribbean food is bringing young people to Gravesend Borough Market
 People want the market to succeed and realise its potential

Areas for consideration:

 Continue to break down the barriers of post-refurbishment negativity
 The atmosphere and character of Gravesend Borough Market requires 

an injection of personality
 Develop the food court offering further by filling empty units with good 

quality, affordable food
 Celebrate the success of local businesses to improve Gravesend 

Borough Market’s reputation of low trader retention
 Capitalise on the new arrival of young people to Gravesend Borough 

Market by developing a youth focussed offering within the market’s plan

2.2.2 Gain an understanding about what consumers want from Gravesend 
Borough Market and how to meet the needs of varying demographics

What is working well:

Page 43



4

 There is a strong desire to support local businesses and a recognition 
that Gravesend Borough Market has potential to offer this opportunity

 Opening days and hours of the ‘shopping zone’ within the market is 
meeting and satisfying customer needs

 Fresh produce and locally produced products are the most required 
categories, which are partly present on a Tuesday 

Areas for consideration:

 Although opening hours of the shopping zone meets expectations, there 
is potential for extended opening hours for the food court 

 That the Tuesday market receives a heavily invested revamp and 
relaunch, with an additional ‘traditional market’ suggested to run on a 
Saturday

2.2.3 Recognise the impact and appeal of pop-up markets and events

What is working well:

 Pop-up markets and events are proving popular and have a positive 
impact on footfall

 Events are the third highest reason why respondents visit Gravesend 
Borough Market, proving their importance to the market’s programming

 Well established pop-up markets such as Christmas Fairs and Vintage 
Fairs are the most popular and heavily attended events

Areas for consideration:

 With 30% of respondents stating they would like to see a new event at 
the market, there is scope to continue extending and developing pop-up 
market concepts

 There is very little desire currently from young people to visit a market 
event.  Consideration should be made to tailor and trial an event to their 
specific needs

 Twilight markets are still an uncertainty in terms of popularity and 
potential for success.  Continuation of a testing period is recommended 
to fully investigate their worth and to identify categories that are more 
suited to evening events

2.2.4 Explore thoughts and behaviours surrounding the food court

What is working well:

 Awareness of the food court is high and visitors moderate
 The food court offers a unique environment for vendors to create a food 

theatre experience in an open, casual and more visual space to that of a 
restaurant

 The combination of a well-established vendor and an up and coming 
food stall with strong followers is having a positive impact on the food 
court’s reputation and footfall

Page 44



5

 The introduction of the Caribbean food offering is bringing the new 
arrival of young people to the food court and market

Areas for consideration:

 Increase the variety of food vendors to strengthen the offering further
 Extend the standard opening hours of the food court and advertise 

substantially
 Clarify and communicate the product positioning of Gravesend Borough 

Market’s food court to improve perception
 Capitalise on the introduction of young people to the market by creating 

a unique offering for them within the market

2.2.5 Establish the most effective and engaging methods of promoting and 
advertising the market and its offerings

What is working well:

 Social media and more specifically Facebook, is proving a popular and 
cost-effective means of advertising and promoting Gravesend Borough 
Market and its events

Areas for consideration:

 Although the market should continue to utilise social media, it is 
important that this is not the only predominant means of communicating 
with the public.  Posts can be seen too late or missed entirely by many

 A need to invest in a marketing and advertising budget for Gravesend 
Borough Market, with a clear strategy to support the development of the 
business

 A demand for traditional forms of advertising has been identified, with 
additional attention to out-of-home, digital outdoor and directional media. 
Raising awareness of the market and its location, is essential, and there 
is a definite opportunity to reach, interact and entice existing High Street 
shoppers to visit the market as part of their current shopping experience

2.2.6 Summarising the unique offering for Gravesend Borough Market traders

 An affordable, low risk opportunity for new and small businesses
 Free flowing environment requiring less customer commitment
 Allows customer interaction and camaraderie with fellow traders 
 A hub for supporters of local businesses
 No set up and pack up required, with permanent storage space
 Huge potential identified for Gravesend Borough Market

Page 45



6

3. Member Working Group

3.1 At the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee in June, it was requested that 
a Member Working Group was set up to review the research information. 

3.2 On consultation with the Chair of the Cabinet Committee, the attached Terms of 
Reference have been developed and area attached as Appendix II.

3.3 Members are asked to review the attached Terms of Reference and consider 
representation for a Member Working Group with responsibility for reviewing the 
research information in full, along with a draft strategy document and sharing 
the recommendations from that working group back to the Committee in 
February.  

4 Recommendations

4.1 The headline findings are for information only, but Members are asked to 
consider the terms of reference and consider representation at a Member 
Working Group.

Page 46



7

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The Borough Market is currently experiencing a period of challenge. In order to set the 
direction of travel, a research exercise was undertaken to gauge the views of 
customers, visitors and traders. This information will be used by Members and 
Management to consider appropriate actions required to turn the market into a thriving 
town centre space.

Risk 
Assessment

The council faces a reputational risk in that the Borough Market is a significantly historic 
building which has undergone major funded refurbishment works, yet is currently not 
delivering a sound offer. The additional work recommended in this report aims to 
address this and relaunch the market as a town centre destination and business offer.

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

Screening for Equality Impacts

Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended through 
this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community?

No

b. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended through 
this paper make a 
positive contribution to 
promoting equality?

N/A

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above?

N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have given 
due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the 
table above

Corporate 
Business Plan 03 – Sustainable Gravesham

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesend Borough Market
Member Working Group

Terms of Reference

Role of the Gravesend Borough Market Member Working Group

The Gravesend Borough Market Member Working Group will meet a maximum of three times and be 
responsible for reviewing recent research information and draft market strategy, with recommendations 
being presented to the February Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee in relation to the development 
of the Borough Market.
Key activities of the Gravesend Borough Market Member Working Group

 To review the recent research information, comprising quantitative responses to a questionnaire 
and qualitative feedback from meetings and focus groups

 To review the draft strategy and advise on potential areas of development

 To recommend any additional actions that should be taken in order to support the future success 
of the Borough Market.

Anticipated outcomes from the Gravesend Borough Market Member Working Group

 To report back to the February Cabinet Committee on the Groups findings

 To present a final draft strategy for Cabinet consideration

 To present an action plan setting out key areas of work to support delivery of the strategy
What is expected of Members of the Gravesend Borough Market Member Working Group

Members of the Gravesend Borough Market Member Working Group will:

 Attend all meetings of the Corporate Working Group as arranged by the Chair of the Community 
& Leisure Cabinet Committee.

 Actively participate and contribute in discussions that are held by the group.

 Support the Chair of the Group by undertaking tasks and activities as agreed and directed by the 
discussions of the group and recorded in the Minutes of Group meetings.

The Chair of the Gravesend Borough Market Member Working Group will:

 Arrange meetings at a frequency that best suits the activities of the group and the anticipated 
outcomes.

 Ensure arrangements for the effective administration of the group such as early agenda setting 
and minute-taking etc.

 Ensure regular reporting to the council’s Management Team of the discussions and outcomes of 
the group.

Members

Membership to be confirmed, but will be made up of Members from the Community & Leisure Cabinet 
Committee. 

Officers Required

Anita Tysoe

Other officers required to attend will be dependent on what the Working Group wish to consider/ discuss 
at each meeting.

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Outdoor and Town Centre Events Programme
	C&L Committeee Nov 2019 - Outdoor and Town Centre Events - Appendix 2
	Outdoor and Town Centre Events - Appendix 3

	6 Summer Fun 2019
	C&L Committee Nov 2019 - Summer Fun - Appendix 2

	7 Community Engagement Events & Activities 2019
	Community Involvement Events - Appendix 2

	8 Gravesend Borough Market Research & Member Working Group
	Terms of reference - Member Working Group


